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To my Dad,

who was a wrestling fan,

but died without ever seeing me wrestle.

I hope he would have been proud.

To my family, who I love.

And to all the boys in the business

who make wrestling so enjoyable!






prologue



Good Ole J.R. looks right at home in his trademark black Stetson cowboy hat as he makes his way to the announce position at ringside. Many of the wrestling fans in the crowd on this night are wearing cowboy hats as well. And they are drinking beer. And they are chewing tobacco. And they are spitting on the floor. And they are cussing up a storm…and those are the women!

For this is West Memphis, Arkansas, considered by many to be the redneck capital of the world, or at least the Mid-South. Where live-stock is still thought to be an appropriate wedding gift. West Memphis, Arkansas, the little backwoods burg that sullies the good name of the civilized city of Memphis, Tennessee, which lies just a stone’s throw away. Provided you can throw a stone across the Mississippi River. Memphians have long looked down on West Memphians as trailer park-dwelling hangers-on, who, whenever they wanted to do anything of value or substance, had to cross the state line and come into Tennessee.

The University of Oklahoma fight song, which is J.R.’s entrance music, fades down as he settles into his seat and adjusts his headset. “Gimme a little more Me!” J.R. barks into his microphone as the soundman turns up the volume on J.R.’s voice. It’s got to be loud to hear yourself over a wrestling crowd that is screaming at the top of its lungs. And scream they do as the royal music that signifies the coming of “the King” fills the arena. Ah, “the King,” complete with crown, in all his glory, giving a royal wave to the locals as he sits down next to J.R. and prepares to broadcast yet another historic match.

“What about this arena we’re in tonight, J.R.? Have you ever seen one any smaller? I dropped a washcloth on the floor of my dressing room and had wall-to-wall carpeting! And what about this crowd, J.R.? I’ve had more people come to see me wash my car than are here tonight. What gives? Who’s wrestling tonight anyway?”

“Well, King,” J.R. replies, “what gives, is that this arena, as rundown and dilapidated as it is, was once a movie theater called the Avon. And most of the seats down in front of the screen have been taken out to make room for the wrestling ring. And the reason the crowd is so small is because these wrestlers tonight are just a bunch of young unknowns trying to get started in the business.”

“So then why are you and I here, J.R.? We’re WWE Superstars. We don’t belong in the same arena with a bunch of nobodies! And hey! Look at what’s hanging over the ring! Is that a washtub?”

“Sure is, King. That’s what they use for a ring light. A galvanized metal washtub with three light bulbs in it.”

“And look at the way these fans are dressed, J.R. Don’t they know these styles went out in the seventies?”

“King, we’re IN the seventies! You and I have traveled back in time to call the first-ever professional wrestling match of a young kid named Jerry Lawler. Tonight he will step into a wrestling ring for the first time in his life. He’ll have a partner named Jerry Vickers, and they’ll be taking on a masked tag team known as the Executioners. This is a historic match we’re about to broadcast, King!”

“First of all, J.R., I’ve never heard of Jerry Lawler, and second, how could any match held in the podunk town of West Memphis, Arkansas, be historic? Did you hear the mayor’s mansion burned down here last week? Yep, perty near took out the whole trailer park! Ha, Ha, Ha!”

“Very funny, King. Now be quiet, here comes Lawler and his partner out to the ring now.”

“What do you mean, here comes Lawler? Where is his entrance music? Where is his pyro?”

“King, I told you, this is 1970. No one has entrance music. Or pyro. It just isn’t done yet.”

“You mean this isn’t ‘sports-entertainment.’ It’s still just ‘wrestling’?”

“Now you’re catching on, Einstein! Uh-oh. Here come Lawler’s opponents, the dreaded masked Executioners!”

“Wow, J.R. Those masked men look huge compared to Jerry Lawler. What do you think Jerry weighs?”

“I know what he weighs, King, a hundred and eighty-five pounds.”

“A hundred and eighty-five pounds! J.R., you eat more than that for breakfast! These Executioners scrape runts like Lawler off the bottoms of their shoes! I mean, look at his chest, J.R. He’s so skinny, his nipples touch. And who’s that guy with Lawler? He’s not much bigger himself.”

“Well, King, that’s Jerry Lawler’s partner, Jerry Vickers. He’s a young man from Kansas City who’s come down here to try to get noticed by the big organization. But right now he’s taking any bookings he can.”

“Yeah, and he’s obviously taking any partners he can, too! I can’t get over how small this Lawler kid is. I’ll bet he uses Chap Stick for roll-on deodorant! Hey, I think the match is about to start, was that the bell?”

“Do I have to keep reminding you, King? This is not the WWE. This is a low-budget, no-frills, wrestling show. The promoter, Aubrey Griffith, has to run these matches on a shoestring. Instead of a bell, they just clang a hammer against the metal ring post. Anyway, it kind a sounded like a bell.”

“Yeah, J.R., and these guys ‘kind a’ look like wrestlers! Well, here they go. Vickers and Executioner number one locking up. Somehow I have a feeling this isn’t going to last long.”

J.R. begins the commentary as the match gets underway. “Standing side headlock by Vickers on the Executioner to start the match…Executioner fires Vickers into the ropes…Vickers comes off and hits the Executioner with a nice shoulder tackle. Vickers back into the ropes, the Executioner drops down, and catches Vickers coming off with a big hip toss, and now the Executioner grabs a headlock of his own on Vickers. Now Vickers shoots the masked man into the ropes, big shoulder tackle…here comes the Executioner again off the ropes…this time Vickers drops down, then catches the Executioner with a hip toss, and he follows that up with a body slam on his opponent and the Executioner retreats to his corner, like a scalded dog, and gets a sympathy hug from his partner, Executioner number two! The Executioner tags in his partner…Executioner and Vickers lock up…Vickers snatches a headlock and pulls the big masked man toward his corner. And there’s a tag on Lawler! Well, here we go, King, business is about to pick up…this is what we’re here for…Jerry Lawler’s first time in a wrestling ring. Now let’s see what kind of wrestler he is.”

“I can tell you what kind of wrestler Lawler is, J.R. He’s a ‘cross-word’ wrestler. He came into the ring vertically, but he’ll leave horizontally! I predict this match will either be stopped by the ref, or the Red Cross!”

“Oh, you ‘predict’ do you, King? Who do you think you are, Nostradufas? Be that as it may, Lawler has the advantage right now. He’s got a headlock of his own on Executioner number two. Look out, the Executioner has backed Lawler into the ropes…Wow! What a big forearm smash by the Executioner to Lawler’s chest. That looked like it may have knocked the breath out of Jerry…and now, another big smash to Lawler’s chest…Jerry is slumping back against the ropes. Now the Executioner with a big boot to Lawler’s midsection…Lawler’s down…more hard kicks from the masked man. King, the Executioner is stomping a mud hole in Lawler, and he’s about to walk it dry!

“Now what’s the Executioner doing? He’s grabbed Lawler by the hair and by the back of his tights…Hey, wait a minute! The Executioner is running across the ring with Lawler in tow, and now he’s throwing Jerry…OH MY GOD!!…Did you see that, King? The Executioner just threw Lawler between the middle and top rope, right out onto the concrete floor, and the poor kid landed right on his head!”

“I saw it, J.R…. It looked like Lawler didn’t even try to grab theropes or break his fall in any way! Did you hear that sickening thud when his head hit the floor? That was great! That may have been the funniest thing I’ve ever seen! And look, J.R., Lawler’s not moving! He may be dead, J.R, I think he is! I think this kid has just kicked the oxygen habit…He’ll be checking into the ‘Wooden Waldorf’…He’ll be playing harp duets with Hoffa…He’s no longer eligible for the census…He’s…”

“Would you shut up, King! This is not funny. Jerry Lawler is hurt!”

“Oh, excuse me, J.R. I forgot, it’s only funny until someone gets hurt…. Then it’s hilarious! Ah ha ha ha!”

“Well, you can laugh all you want to, King, but Lawler is still lying on the floor, unconscious. The other wrestlers have come out and the promoter is out here trying to revive Jerry…they are picking him up and carrying him back to the dressing room, and it looks like this match is officially over!

“In just over six minutes, your winners, by a count out, the Executioners!”
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chapter 1



Sunday, May 19, 2002. It’s Judgment Day at the Gaylord Entertainment Center, Nashville, Tennessee. Judgment Day is a big-time WWE Pay-Per-View, broadcast all over the world, so all the Raw and SmackDown! stars are here. We’ve spent the last three weeks of television building up these matches. One of the featured bouts is Kurt Angle and Edge in a hair-versus-hair match. Meanwhile, suspended dramatically above the ring is the steel cage that Triple H and Chris Jericho will use for their hell-in-the-cell battle. But the big showpiece is Undertaker and the Hulk, who’ll climax weeks of feuding in a match for the Undisputed WWE Championship.

The place is packed—bulging with 18,000 fans—and the King rejoices in the rousing welcome he gets from his loyal home-state subjects. Nashville was always my “home away from home,” so to speak. Among the crowd is a bunch of Tennessee Titans football players like Kevin Dyson, Randall Godfrey, and the tackles Joe Salave’a and Adam Haayer. Haayer went to college in Minnesota with the latest and greatest beast in sports-entertainment, Brock Lesnar. WWE wrestling has always been popular among athletes. Whatever city we’re in, if it has a professional sports team, there are usually some players at the show. Same goes for entertainers; I think they can all appreciate what we do. Wrestlers have to have what it takes to succeed in both those worlds.

This Sunday was the start of a big few days for me. I was doing the commentary on the PPV with my trusty compadre J.R. The next night, Raw was coming live from the Pyramid in the King’s hometown of Memphis.

This was the deal. Pay-Per-View events from state-of-the-art facilities in front of 18,000 adoring fans. Live shows on national TV out of the biggest arena this side of the Superdome in New Orleans. The King has come a mighty long way in the thirty years since the greenhorn almost got himself killed in front of twenty-eight people in a busted-down movie theater in West Memphis, Arkansas. Of course, the kid who got thrown out of the ring wasn’t the King yet, but Jerry Lawler certainly felt that bump well enough. Once he’d regained consciousness.

It was natural for me to be thinking about my dim and distant wrestling past that particular weekend. For one thing, Vince and J.R. were busting my balls about remembering stories for my book. Look, I should say up front that I have not been blessed with a great memory. I barely remember what I had for breakfast, much less everything that’s happened in my entire life. I think I need one of those jobs the Arnold Schwarzenegger character in Total Recall got. “Tell me what I remember again…” Like I could swear I never wrestled Mick Foley. I’ve seen him wrestle a million times and commentated on hundreds of his matches, but I don’t remember ever actually wrestling him myself, but I’m told I had a match with Mankind at King of the Ring in 1997. I’m shown evidence of it, so I guess “It’s true, it’s true,” as Kurt Angle might say.

But it’s driving around this part of the Mid-South, routes like Memphis-to-Nashville and Memphis-to-Tupelo, that brings back a pile of memories for me. I’ve spent a big part of my adult life in cars, driving to and from shows in one place or another. When I first started in the business, I’d think nothing of driving five, six hundred miles to a match, often at insane speeds, and just as often up to no good along the way. I pass the spot on the road to Nashville where my great friend and manager Sam Bass was killed in 1976 and that whole crazy period is immediately right back with me.

In 1976, I’d only been in wrestling a few years but Jerry Lawler was already the King. A monarch has no need for modesty, so I’ll say it: At that time, I was the biggest deal in the most important wrestling territory in the whole country. In a year, my partner and I would split from the established local promoter and I would get an ownership stake in the business in the Mid-South. I had the solid platform for a great career that’s still going as strong as ever, both locally and nationally, following a short hiatus.

It’s a real high-pressure job. For an event like Judgment Day, most of the wrestlers have a tenor fifteen-minute match and they’re done. Twenty minutes tops. J.R. and I have to go out and be up and try to be entertaining for the entire show. Our job is to keep everybody excited, every minute, for three straight hours. You have to further the story lines, keep the people informed, and get the matches and the individual wrestlers over. (In wrestling, putting someone “over” means to make them look good.) J.R. and I have a lot of responsibility. Punch the mute button one time and try to watch the show that way. I defy you to make it through one match.

On Pay-Per-View days, there’s a production meeting where writers, agents, and the TV crew go over what will happen that particular night. It’s all timed out to the second. The referees have earpieces so they can tell the guys, “You’ll go home [finish the match] in the next minute.” Vince McMahon personally oversees these production meetings. But I don’t go to them.

That’s always been a pet peeve of mine: I hate to rehearse. If anyone makes me do it, I’ll never say the same thing live I did in rehearsal. I like to be spontaneous and say the first thing that pops into my mind, which isn’t always a good idea. I don’t even like to know what’s planned for the show, much less rehearse what I’m going to say. I find it’s more sincere if I am reacting honestly to what I see. That way, I’m experiencing the matches the same way the fans and people at home are. I’ve always thought that part of my success comes from the fact that I seem to say exactly what a lot of the fans are thinking, and that has to be spontaneous. J.R. certainly goes to the meetings. Everybody goes but me.

These production meetings are at eleven o’clock in the morning. They write the shows during the week, or sometimes as late as the night before, and change them two or three times before the meeting. And they also change the show two or three times after the meeting. One of the reasons I give for not going is that they rewrite the show so many times.

Truth of the matter is, I used to have to go to the production meetings. There was one meeting I was at where they were talking about an angle—plot twist—with Undertaker back when he was this evil entity. (I miss that Undertaker, he was my favorite.) He had recently abducted Stephanie McMahon and he had several subjects that were creatures of the night around him. They’d gone to the ring and grabbed another wrestler, Midian, and they were going to induct him into Undertaker’s circle and bring him over to the dark side.

In the production meeting, I was sitting beside Michael Cole, who was taking notes on everything. Vince was saying they were going to lay Midian out on a table and Undertaker was going to stand over him wearing his black hood chanting some evil spell. Undertaker and his acolytes were then going to levitate Midian, make him float in the air. A magician had shown them how to do that with a big metal arm you couldn’t see lifting up Midian. Michael Cole and I looked at each other and said this was going to be neat.

Comes time to do the show and someone grabs Midian to prepare for the initiation and Michael and I are ready. But at some point in the day, the technical people found out that the levitation thing wasn’t working properly for some reason, so it was decided not to even try it. Michael and I are at the ring and the dark ceremonial stuff is going on up on a stage some way away. Midian is on a table as we anticipated and Undertaker waves his arms over him, also as planned. Michael and I are calling the action, and Michael says, “Oh my gosh, King, look, he’s levitating! He’s floating in air!” I could see well enough to see that he wasn’t moving at all. I looked at Michael and said, “What?” He said, “He’s floating. Isn’t he?” I said, “I don’t think so.”

Fortunately, that was SmackDown!, and it was being taped, which meant we could go back and add voice-overs, and do what we call a “fix.” But had that been Raw, where the show is totally live, everybody would have looked like complete idiots. Well, at least Michael would have looked like a complete idiot. After the show, we went back and someone said, “Oh! We forgot to tell you guys. We threw out the levitation deal.” That story has remained something I use in my agument against rehearsing. Too many things can go wrong if you’re not doing it off the cuff.

At Judgment Day 2002, Edge won the hair match. He literally had more to lose and Kurt actually looked pretty good bald. This match allowed me to use some good hair jokes on Edge. “My cat’s coughed up better-looking hair than Edge has. I’ve seen better-looking hair in my shower drain than Edge has.” And, “What kind of shampoo do you think Edge uses? Pennzoil or Quaker State?” I said Kurt would actually be doing Edge a favor by shaving off that straggly hair and letting Edge start over from scratch. To be honest with you, all the while J.R. and I were calling this match, I actually thought Kurt was going over and they really were going to shave Edge’s head. I hadn’t gone to the meeting, and I just thought that cutting Edge’s hair would have been the cooler thing to do.

The hell-in-the-cell was very good, but nothing near the legendary match between Mick Foley and Undertaker in 1998, which was just unbelievable. It would be next to impossible to replicate the kind of bumps Foley took that day. Triple H and Jericho sacrificed their bodies in the match, and fortunately, neither one of them was injured. In fact, the worst casualty at Judgment Day was the referee Tim White. Triple H was running at Chris Jericho, and Jericho moved out of the way and the ref got nailed into the cage. It looked good, a big bump, and it seemed like he was really hurt. After the match we found out he was hurt. He had to be taken to the hospital with a dislocated shoulder that required surgery.

In the main event of Judgment Day 2002, Undertaker beat Hogan to become Undisputed Champion and Hogan made a long, emotional good-bye speech to the crowd. It left the fans wondering if this was the last time they’d see the immortal Hulk Hogan, but it promised good things for the next night, because at a Raw after a Pay-Per-View all sorts of new angles are usually set up leading to the next big showdown.

Because Raw was coming from Memphis, I became an unofficial branch of Ticketmaster for a couple of days. It always happens, people you haven’t heard from in years call the day of the event expecting me to get them great seats…and for free! This is another one of my pet peeves. When I’m out shopping or eating somewhere, I’m standing there to pay for something, and as I give the cashier my money, that same person will inevitably ask me, “Hey, King, you got any free wrestling tickets?” I usually say, “I didn’t just get this burger for free, did I?”

It was a relief to get to the Pyramid to escape the phone calls from people wanting tickets. The Pyramid is a strange building. Acres and acres of stainless steel built Egyptian-style, right on the banks of the Mississippi. At one point, the city of Memphis thought it was going to get the rock ’n’ roll Hall of Fame and they were going to put it in the little pointy end of the Pyramid on top of the arena. But the Hall went to the King’s second-favorite city, Cleveland, so the top of the Pyramid is hollow.

There were far fewer people in the backstage area, both crew and wrestlers, than there had been in Nashville the night before because all the wrestlers who normally appear on SmackDown! had gone to Birmingham for a show, leaving just the Raw teams for Memphis. Before the fans were let in, I was in the empty arena as some of the guys warmed up. WWE security walks around the arena both ringside and backstage before the doors are open to head off overeager fans. There’s always a few individuals who think they can get to a restricted area just by walking quickly and looking official. I saw a couple of guys in yellow T-shirts like the Pyramid staff wears walk in at the top of the stands. One of the WWE security guys shouted up, “Who are you with, concessions?”

“We don’t do concessions,” the guy shouted back. “We serve beer.” Okay, this is Memphis.

It was a special thrill for the King to take his seat beside J.R. at the announcer’s table that night. The fans chanted “Jer-ry, Jer-ry,” and there were a bunch of signs: “Raw Is War but Lawler Is King, Welcome Home King of Memphis,” and “Lawler Will You Marry Me?” (I didn’t get a chance to check out who was holding that one. I hope it wasn’t a guy.) There was also a sign that read, “Vince Sux Cock.” How disgusting. I was embarrassed that a sign like this would appear in my hometown. I was about to go over there and talk to the person. “S-U-C-K-S, you half-wit, not S-U-X!” Don’t people know how to spell these days? Anyway, before I could move, the sign was gone.

It turned out that Vince had a surprise for me—Raven, who used to do the commentary for Sunday Night Heat, and is really a strange-looking freak with his dreadlocks, or whatever they are, sticking out all over his head—joined J.R. and me to do a bit of color commentating of his own. The idea was that Raven would help out but he would be showing up the King, telling him how the TV should be done. He would piss me off to the extent that we’d have to settle it in the ring.

The viewers on TV just saw Raven show up and sit down next to me at the table, but we did a more elaborate setup from the ring for the live fans because they didn’t get to hear any of what Raven was saying. It was stuff about me and Stacy and about my ability as a commentator. He actually seemed to object to the King’s interest in puppies. I got to have my say and I was happy to conclude of Raven that “the last time I saw something like you, I flushed it.”

Raven actually annoyed a lot of people that night, and they weren’t all wrestling fans. Jerry Brisco, who’s been in the business for years and who now works for Vince as an agent, told me that when Raven heard about the match, he went to Vince and said he didn’t think he should get beat because he wanted to get back into wrestling full-time. Vince changed the finish to allow Raven to get counted out instead of getting pinned. This made a lot of people pretty hot. There’s a hierarchy and a code. Someone tells you to do something, you go do it. The word spread quickly ’round the dressing room that Raven didn’t want to do a job (get beat) for the King in the King’s hometown. I know wrestlers who got hot too. X-Pac, for one, came to me and said it would be an honor for him to put me over in my hometown. I appreciated that, but it didn’t surprise me that Raven didn’t want to get beat. A lot of guys think that it damages their character’s reputation. It is no big deal to me because my character is now more a commentator than a wrestler.

We had the match. I took some bumps from Raven until I dropped my strap, which is the sign that the King has taken enough and means business. I slapped him ’round the ring and set up the original finish where I was going to do a fist-drop from the second rope, and then cover him for the one-two-three. But instead of waiting to get nailed and counted out, Raven jumped out of the ring as I was standing on the rope with my fist cocked, ready for the dive. It looked kind a goofy and was really anticlimactic, but, whatever, I’ve had matches finish in much stranger ways in Memphis. Plus I got the win anyway. Getting your hand raised after a match is all that matters, it don’t matter how you did it.

 

SmackDown! tapes on Tuesdays and goes out on Thursday. For fans who haven’t been to a live show, there are matches that go on before the TV cameras are running that are just for the benefit of the fans in the house. So they’re called house matches or dark matches. I was booked to do a house match at the SmackDown! taping in Tupelo, Mississippi, the night after Raw in Memphis.

I drove down with my mom and my then girlfriend, Joni. I’ve wrestled in Tupelo many, many times, though never at the 10,000-seat arena they have now, the BankcorpSouth Center. I hadn’t known who I was wrestling until I got to the arena. I learned that my opponent was Prince Albert, who I knew from his days wrestling in Memphis where he got started in the business. He was called Baldo then. He began getting all pierced and tattooed and he had this Prince Albert gimmick going. (Anyone who doesn’t know should go ask someone what a Prince Albert is. It’s quite an eye-opener. And also the word “gimmick” needs explaining. It can mean a wrestler’s shtick. My “gimmick” is being the King. Or, it can be substituted for a body part. As in she kissed my gimmick and I kissed hers.) I like Albert a lot and we had a very good match. Albert had no problem putting me over, and I appreciated it. The fans in Tupelo gave me a rousing welcome like I hadn’t heard in years.
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Between innings relaxing with my mother.
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My mom and Joni had been watching from the Pre-Tape Room, which is where they put together some of the vignettes and posed shots of the wrestlers used in the graphics before the matches. When I got back there, Hulk Hogan was in the room fixing himself a cup of coffee. Now Hulk and I go way, way back and I know him as Terry. I wanted to introduce Terry to my mom. Terry was great—really gracious and friendly. He told my mom that her son had given him his first real break in the business. He recalled the time he had worked in the Mid-South Coliseum in Memphis almost thirty years before. At the time, he was an inexperienced, young wrestler and I had, in his words, “thrown him to the lions.” It was very cool of Hulk to say those nice things about me to my mom.

My wrestling journey that began that day in West Memphis goes on. I want to share the stories of the King, and Jerry, if I can remember a few of them. They go right across the country and to many parts of the world. There are as many peaks and valleys as there are in the Dow Jones average. Success, fame, money, girls, car wrecks, lawsuits, divorce. It’s good to be the King alright, but it’s not always good to be the King.

 

There’s only one place where my story of the journey can begin…








[image: 20]

Me, Mom and Larry

chapter 2



Memphis, Tennessee. The Bluff City on the mighty Mississippi. The HQ of Federal Express. Site of the first Holiday Inn, and are you ready for this? The home of the first-ever Piggly Wiggly supermarket. Just off I-55 on the way out of the city is Graceland, where the King of rock ’n’ roll, Elvis Aaron Presley, lived and where he died in 1977.

Every place you look in my hometown, the King of wrestling has lent his royal presence at some point in time. I made records at Sun Studio like Elvis. I broke Elvis Presley’s consecutive sell-out record at the 11,500-seat Mid-South Coliseum—for my wrestling, not for my singing. Right when Elvis died, we were fixing to set up something that would bring the two Kings together for a showdown to decide the “Real” King of Memphis, and it’s one of my great regrets that that never came to pass.

I’ve lived in Memphis all my life apart from a few years my family spent near Cleveland, Ohio, when I was a kid and some time in Nashville. When the family came back, I finished high school and almost immediately started wrestling. It’s taken up the biggest part of my life since I was about nineteen. You can make the case for Memphis being the wrestling capital of America. Memphis wrestling is a tradition that goes back way before World War II and the Memphis region was the last major independent that hung on when Vince McMahon and the WWE were rolling over all the local territories in the 1980s. While it might not be as strong as it was in its heyday, Memphis wrestling is still going. And the King has been the man since the early seventies.

 

Before we get to how that came to be, I want to take you ’round some of the King’s Memphis. To me, it’s sorta’ like introducing a lifelong friend. Just beyond Beale Street, which is the home of the Blues, is the old Lorraine Motel where Dr. Martin Luther King was assassinated in 1968 and which is now the National Civil Rights Museum. I was just a kid working as a shoe salesman at Kinney shoe store that day when someone came in and yelled, “Close the store and go home…someone just shot Martin Luther King!”

It would probably sound cool to say I was from a “tough” neighborhood. You know, the kind where a cat with a tail was a tourist. But that wasn’t the case. In reality, mine was more like the Leave It to Beaver kind of neighborhood. Before we moved to Ohio, our family lived in a house on Vernon Avenue. And when we came back, minus my brother, Larry, who stayed up there, we went back to the same house. My mother lived in that house a total of forty-seven years.

I went back to Vernon Avenue recently. I guess I remember it like it was when I was a kid. Seeing the sights on my old street brought back a lot of memories. Ours was a little white wooden house. I can remember my dad, in the middle of summer, up on a ladder, no shirt on, sweatin’ like crazy, scraping the old paint off the side of the house and spreading on the new paint. It seemed like that house always needed painting. Now it’s kind of a yellowish color. Vinyl siding courtesy of Jerry Lawler’s Siding Company back in 1989. (That’s right, at one time, I lent my name to a local siding company.)
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I’m sitting in my car looking over at the Paynes’s house. The Paynes always kept the nicest, most well-manicured lawn in the neighborhood. Suddenly a woman stuck her head in through the open car window. She was holding a lit cigarette right in the car and I hate smoke. “Last time I saw you ’round here,” she said, “it was snowing. It was the eighties.” Good grief, it was Judy Killebrew. She was born and raised in the house next door to Mr. Payne’s and she still lives in that same house. Judy’s little brother Chris used to be one of the kids I terrorized when I got old enough to be the King of my street.

I got out of the car and walked around. Here’s the famous drainage ditch three houses down from mine. It tunneled under the street, made a sharp turn, and came out behind a house on the other side of the street. That ditch is probably less than four feet in diameter, but as kids, we used to have a club in there. We used trees to try to “dam up” the tunnel and make the water back up in the ditch when it rained. We had a meeting place down there and it was really cool if we had a candle or a flashlight to goof around with. As we got a little older, we finally allowed a girl to join our club, and then, if I remember right, it became the “pull down your pants club”!

There’s the bit of ground behind the church, that me and the guys played football on every Sunday. That’s where my friend Jerry Bryant was running a hundred miles an hour trying to catch one of my passes and went straight into a tree. We all laughed and laughed and old Jerry was lying there in critical condition. I swear I can pick out the tree Jerry collided with. That tree is still there, but Jerry Bryant isn’t. He was a great athlete and I later trained him and got him into wrestling. Jerry Bryant loved wrestling, and was pretty darned good at it, but not long after he’d gotten into it, he was told he had Lou Gehrig’s disease. There was nothing anyone could do. We just had to sit by and watch as a talented young man, in the prime of his life, wasted away and died. I still think of Jerry every time I go out to play touch football.

My family went to a Methodist Church just a few blocks from our house. Just past it was a little strip shopping center on Macon Road that had the best bakery. Weekday mornings my dad would have to get up real early to go to his job at the Ford plant and sometimes he’d wake me up at 4 A.M. We’d come down here and they’d be making hot doughnuts right there in front of you…you know, like they do now at Krispy Kreme. We’d buy some and eat them right there in the bakery, before they had a chance to cool off. Man, were they ever good.

Then dad would take me back home. He’d go to work, and I’d go back to bed.

 

From the time I was eight years old, until I was fourteen, my family lived in Ohio. When we got back from Ohio, I went to Treadwell High School, which was the biggest city school in Memphis. I graduated from Treadwell in 1967, but my picture’s still hanging up in one of the hallways. Pro basketball player Penny Hardaway also graduated from Treadwell. He told me he used to look up at my picture and think, “If the King came from this high school, I can make it big too.” One thing about my school was that while I was going there, I never got into a fight. Not one. But since I made it big in wrestling, I wish I had a buck for every time I heard about how someone beat me up when they were in high school with me.

I doubled back past Vernon Avenue and drove a few blocks to the house on Wrenwood where my first wife, Kay, the mother of my sons Brian and Kevin, lived when she was in high school. I used to sneak up to her window late at night to talk to her. I wasn’t supposed to be going to see her. She had a curfew because she had school the next day, while I could stay up late then because I was a big man at Memphis State on my commercial art scholarship. If you’d have asked that eighteen-year-old young man who was standing outside his girl-friend’s window, when he should have been doing schoolwork, what he thought he’d end up doing, I imagine he’d say something to do with his art—a job at Hallmark or American Greetings. Maybe drawing comics for DC or Marvel. Not even close.

I stopped for lunch at one of my favorite Memphis eating spots, Cozy Corner Barbecue. I really like several barbecue places in Memphis. There’s Gridley’s—at one time they were my favorite. There’s also Corky’s. They’re very good and have locations in cities outside Memphis. Believe it or not, my favorite dish at Corky’s is their hot tamales covered with chili. As Jackie Fargo used to say, “It’ll make your tongue slap your brains out!” Then there’s the “world famous” Rendezvous. But my personal favorite is Cozy Corner. They barbecue chicken, baloney, and Cornish hens. There’s even barbecued spaghetti. But I love the ribs. Half a slab of pork ribs with slaw and beans is $8.95. You can’t pick at a rib. You got to eat it and worry about being messy later. Once I start in on a slab of those ribs I don’t stop for anything. Then I get a toothpick and I’ve got a whole other meal. I became good friends with the guy who owned Cozy Corner, Mr. Robinson, and he just died a few months ago. His family is still running the restaurant, and he would be proud to know the food is as good as ever.

There are a few people who aren’t wrestling fans and who don’t know about the King’s exploits, but even they know about the matches I had with Andy Kaufman in the early 1980s, especially the first one we had at the Mid-South Coliseum in April 1982. That match got worldwide, mainstream publicity. Up to then Andy had just wrestled women—he was the “self-proclaimed” Intergender Wrestling Champion—but he got more than he bargained for with the King. I put him in the hospital. We later had an even more famous encounter on the Letterman show. I’ll be laying down that whole story later in the book and it’s the first time it’s all been told.

I was still pulling pieces of pork from out my teeth when I drove ’round the old fairgrounds past the big concrete hulk of Liberty Bowl Stadium where they hold important college football games. The Memphis Chicks used to play AA ball in Tim McCarver Stadium, which is back there, too. Tim McCarver’s from Memphis, thus the honor of naming the stadium after him…I’m still waiting for something to be named after me.

The off-white saucer of the Mid-South Coliseum that’s also on the Fairgrounds lot looks kind of sad these days. We had live wrestling shows there every week, from June 19, 1971 to June 17, 1996. I feel like I spent half my life in the place, watching matches, assessing talent, wrestling, doing TV, and so on. We were the last regular tenants they really had in the place, but someone got it registered as a historic building so they can’t tear it down.

It’s not far from there to the Quonset hut on South Flicker Street where I used to do a radio show on old KWAM Radio, while I was still in college. That was where I first saw wrestlers up close and decided that was something I might be interested in doing. At the same time, I was hanging out at the Southern Frontier Lounge and Restaurant where you could get a twenty-ounce T-bone steak for $2.95. That’s right, I said, TWO dollars and ninety-five cents for a T-bone steak! Of course, the steak still had the marks on it from where the jockey was hitting it, but for $2.95, how could you complain? That was Memphis wrestling legend Jackie Fargo’s place. But I’m getting way ahead of myself. It’s only a couple of miles from KWAM back to the East Memphis street I live on now and I took myself on home.

 

I have strong feelings for Memphis and the city has returned the affection I have for it. Except for those few citizens who’ve had the audacity to sue me. The city and Shelby County that surround it each proclaimed May 9, 1988 as “Jerry Lawler Day.” That was the day I finally won a World Championship for myself and the city. I talked myself into actually running for mayor of the place in 1999. Out of a field of more than twenty, I came in third.
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I’ve always been proud to be from the bluff city. I’ve wrestled in front of thousands of fans, in all corners of the world from Japan to Australia, and of course, every state in the Union, and it has always been a special feeling to hear the ring announcer say, “Weighing in at 234 pounds, from MEMPHIS, TENNESSEE, Jerry ‘the King’ Lawler!” I love Memphis, and I plan on stayin’ as long as they’ll have me. Plus, the King’s name has always carried weight here. Everything from hot dogs, to automobiles, to fireworks has been sold using it. I think the city is ready for another King venture. I’m thinking of a restaurant somewhat like Hooters only much hotter. I want to find someone to run it who’s in the business and knows it well. We’d use my name and call the place…“PUPPIES,” featuring, of course, good-looking girls with big breasts.

I remember reading a newspaper story in 1993. The reporter wrote about how the King was everywhere. He was watching TV one day and the ads came on. There were three, one after another: The King’s Gwatney Chevrolet/Geo ad, followed by his Term-City Furniture ad, followed by his Fireworks City commercial.

Sure enough, in Memphis, there’s no escaping the King.
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March ’63 in Ohio

chapter 3



My father and my mother both came from poor families. So poor, in fact, that all they exchanged at Christmas were glances. To relate it to today, if you were that poor, you’d go to Kentucky Fried Chicken to lick other people’s fingers. They grew up in little towns to the east of Memphis, my mom in Whiteville, Tennessee, and my dad in Brownsville, Tennessee. My mother’s family was from Germany way back. I don’t know anything much about my father’s family other than the fact that they came originally from Ireland, hence my middle name, O’Neil.

When I was born, of my grandparents only my mother’s mother was still alive. My sons, Brian and Kevin, called my mother Grandma Lawler, while they called their other grandmother E-maw. My grandmother was always “Granny” to my brother and me.

Before we moved to Ohio, and also when we came back, we went every week to see her in Somerville, which was thirty-five miles away. Somerville was a neat place, a very “country” little town, the kind of place where every week someone would have to haul a can of paint to the top of the water tower to cover up what someone wrote about their sister. Besides the water tower, there was a little old movie theater that I think cost a kid something like fifty cents to go to. I’d always be given a quarter to spend at the five-and-dime a short walk from my grandmother’s house. Almost every time, I’d buy a little metal slingshot and terrorize the neighborhood. I got a major whippin’ from my mom one time when I broke out a couple of windows in the old cotton gin.

We’d sometimes spend the night. The first time we were up there, I remember telling my brother I had to go to the bathroom. He said,“Pick a corner!” She didn’t have a bathroom in her house, but an honest-to-goodness outhouse. I hated that because in the summer, it would be 150 degrees in there. You’d go in and sit down and look up and without fail, there’d be the world’s biggest wasp’s nest. You couldn’t get up and leave but you couldn’t move either. You’d sit there and stare at those big ol’ wasps while they sat there and stared back at you.
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“Granny”

My father was raised by his aunt and uncle on a farm far from the town. He never really got to go to school, so he never learned to read or write. He could write his name, barely, but as far as write anything else, he wasn’t able to. And he couldn’t even read the word “the.” That obviously limited his opportunities in terms of the jobs. Before my brother or I were born, he worked at the Memphis Zoo. He fed the animals and cleaned out cages and did just about anything else that had to be done there. Six days a week and he made a whopping seventy-five dollars a month. He later took a job on the assembly line at the big Ford Motor Company plant in Memphis. Dad was also hard of hearing—he had a broken eardrum from childhood that meant he was never in the service. He did remarkably well for someone who had a lot of drawbacks. When I was growing up, I don’t ever remember it being that big a deal that he couldn’t read or write.

The first memories I have are of the little house on Vernon Avenue. The family went north when I was seven years old. There was a dispute between the city of Memphis and Ford. The company wanted to expand and make the assembly plant larger. Apparently all the land around the factory was owned by the city of Memphis and I guess they felt they could just name their price. Ford just shut the place down.

Ford built another assembly plant in a little city called Vermilion, Ohio. They gave some of the workers in Memphis the opportunity to transfer to Ohio, and my dad decided to go for it. First he went up by himself. He found us somewhere to rent, and then we all moved to Ohio. The first place we lived in was in Vermilion itself. With the influx of families moving for the jobs at the plant, there was a housing shortage, so we had to set up house in a little lakefront cottage right on Lake Erie. This was the middle of February and on the day we moved in it was 5 degrees below zero. I’m not sure if the cottage even had permanent heat because it was usually only rented out for the summer season. It was so cold we had to open the refrigerator to keep warm. That winter the lake froze over and people could drive their cars onto it. I don’t know why you’d want to do that, but people did.

Coming from Memphis with its mild winters and year-round warm weather, the climate was a tremendous shock. We thought we’d moved to the moon or something, it was just so different from the South. My parents hated the weather, but my brother and I loved the snow. My parents preferred rain because it was self-shoveling. I would stay out in the snow so long my mother said she had to use an ice pick to take off my clothes!

Then we moved to a little town about eight miles away called Amherst, where we stayed for the rest of the time we were in Ohio. We lived in two different houses in Amherst. One was a guest house, actually, that was behind our landlord’s house. They lived at 840 Main Street and our address was 840½ Main Street. We had a furnace right in the middle of the basement. I remember one year at Christmas, I got this set of fire trucks I saw in the grocery store we shopped in. I hooked this string on the front of the fire truck and for hours I ran around in circles in the basement, pulling the trucks around that furnace. I also had a great robot that walked on battery-powered legs.

From there we moved across town to the coolest house we ever lived in, 149 Axtel Street. A two-story mansion in my young eyes! Not only did it have an upstairs with three bedrooms, it had a really neat basement, which brother and I got to pretty much use as a playroom. My brother actually saved up his money and bought a pool table to put down there. In what I think was one of the worst days of his life, when they delivered it, the door to the basement was too small to get the pool table through so they had to take it back.
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My brother Larry and me in Ohio

 

A lot of things happened in the world while we lived in that house. I remember the “British Invasion,” as the Beatles became the biggest thing going. The man who lived across the street from us managed a variety store in a shopping center. I worked in his store drawing pictures of the Beatles on T-shirts and pillowcases and the like. Whoever I drew the pictures for had to buy the shirt or pillowcases from the store, and I’d use Magic Markers so the drawings wouldn’t wash out. I’d charge a dollar per drawing and then turn right around and spend every penny I made on Beatles records.

 

Coming from Memphis, I’d not been around any major professional sports teams. That was one of the reasons why wrestling was always so big here—for a long time there were really no pro sports teams at all. People in Memphis have traditionally been fans of either the St. Louis Cardinals, because they’re not that far up the road, or the Atlanta teams, because they are also close, or the Dallas Cowboys, because, for some reason, they are “America’s team.”

But all of a sudden, as a young boy, I was living near a city that had these big teams. Amherst is only about thirty miles west of Cleveland. In the late fifties, both the Browns and the Indians were actually good. The Browns had an excellent team. They won three NFL Championships in the fifties and again in 1964. Jim Brown played for the team from 1957 to 1965, so I was around when the greatest running back of all time was in his prime.

If the Browns star was Jim Brown, the Indians had Rocky Colavito, who was most famous for hitting four home runs in one game in1959. He had two great years in 1958 and 1959: 41 homers and 113 RBIs one year, and 42 and 111 the next. So what did Cleveland do? They traded him to Detroit for Harvey Kuenn. What were they thinking? In 1961, Colavito just blew up: 45 homers and 140 RBIs, and Kuenn wasn’t even with the Indians by then.

As a kid, I only got to go one time in person, to an Indians game. For us to go into Cleveland was a major deal. It was the big city and it seemed so much larger than Memphis although it was probably only about the same size. I don’t know who the Indians played the day I went or if they won or lost, but I still have the souvenir we bought, a little plastic bat with a pennant on it sporting a picture of old Chief Wahoo. That was a real exciting day for me and when we came back to Memphis, I remained a die-hard Indians and Browns fan.

Now I try to catch an Indians and Browns game in person if I can get the chance. If I’m up anywhere near Cleveland, I’ll check and see if there’s a game on and I’ll do my darnedest to go. When the new Browns were started up, they were in the same division as the Tennessee Titans. It can be tricky for the King to go to a game at the Adelphia Coliseum, where the Titans play, and root for the team that isn’t from Tennessee. But I was a heel long enough not to care whether people are happy with me or not.

 

One of the extremely cool things about being the King is that I got to meet a lot of Browns and Indians players over the years. One day, I was looking in the newspaper and it said Sam Rutigliano, Head Coach of the Cleveland Browns, was going to be speaking to the Fellowship of Christian Athletes here in Memphis. I said to myself, oh my gosh, I’d give anything to go and meet him. This must have been sometime between 1978 and 1984, because that’s when Sam Rutigliano was the coach.
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As the King I get to meet many of the Browns players, like quarterback Tim Couch.

He was coming on a Friday, and at the time I was wrestling Friday nights in Atlanta. I’d leave early in the day and fly down. They had a late flight back I could catch after I was done wrestling and because of the time difference it got back to Memphis right at midnight. But I thought that was too late and there was no way I could meet the coach. I even asked if I could get off that Friday night but they wouldn’t let me.

It had said in the paper that Coach Rutigliano was going to be staying with a guy named John Bramlett, who was an Evangelist, in Memphis. He used to play football for the Denver Broncos. I looked in the phone book and, sure enough, John Bramlett’s number was there. I dialed the number, he answered the phone, and I said, “John, this is Jerry Lawler.” He said, “Yeah, Jerry, how’re you doing?” Another good thing about being the King, you don’t have to waste too much time explaining to folks who you are. I told John I’d seen that Sam Rutigliano was going to be staying at his house after the banquet. I said I’d been a die-hard Browns fan since I was a kid and I’d love to get to meet him but I was going to be in Atlanta that evening.

Bramlett said the Coach had a real early flight out the next morning—six-thirty or something like that. But he said his kids would love to meet me. They were huge wrestling fans. He said if I got in at midnight, I should just come over straight from the airport.

I wrestled my match and was praying for the plane not to be late. Sure enough, everything was cool and on time. I landed a little before midnight, and drove straight to the Bramletts’ house, arriving right after twelve. That night made such an impression on me. The house had a glass-fronted porch and the inside door was open. As I was walking up the front steps, I could see all the way back to the den. There, sitting in a chair, was Sam Rutigliano. It went through my head, “This guy is the coach of the Cleveland Browns and he’s waiting up to meet me. How cool is that?”

It was amazing. I was the big mark—fan—for football, so to speak, and all I wanted to do was talk about the Browns and the NFL. John Bramlett’s kids had stayed up and all they wanted to talk about was wrestling. All their lives they’d been around football and football players and it was no big deal to them.

Sam Rutigliano was the nicest guy you’d ever want to meet. Amazingly, his college roommate was the guy who went on to become Captain Lou Albano, who, of course, was a big-time wrestling manager. Sam had followed Lou’s career and knew about wrestling. We talked and he gave me his business card, with the orange Browns helmet on it, “Head Coach, Sam Rutigliano.” He said next time I was in Cleveland, I should call him and I could come out to the training ground and have a meal with the team. He said they were all wrestling fans and would love to meet me. I still have that business card Sam gave me. It’s one of my prized possessions.

A few months later, once the preseason started, I called him and he treated me as if we were long-lost buddies: “Hi, Jerry, how’re you doing? I told the guys about meeting you down in Memphis. Sure, come out tomorrow.” I was in heaven! The Browns had their training camp at Baldwin-Wallace College at Berea, Ohio. It was the neatest thing to walk into that locker room and actually meet the guys who were my heroes. There were a lot of Browns who were wrestling fans, players like Eddie Johnson, Frank Minnifield, Hanford Dixon, Felix Wright, Bob Golic, Dave Puzzuoli, Ozzie Newsome, and Gerald McNeil. Eddie Johnson, especially, wanted to talk about wrestling. “Do you know this guy? Have you ever wrestled this guy?” and I’d say, “Yeah, but let’s talk about football.” He’d say that was just his job. And I’d say, well wrestling’s my job.

Eddie Johnson’s nickname was the “Assassin” and everyone knows that’s a wrestling moniker. Eddie once asked me if I could get him a wrestling mask to go along with his nickname. On one of my trips to Cleveland I took him this really cool black mask and he was so proud of it he actually wore it under his helmet during an NFL game in Denver. There were pictures in the local newspaper of him with the mask on and apparently it didn’t set well with head coach Marty Schottenheimer.

I had my own weekly TV talk show, the Jerry Lawler Show, that I would do a couple of times a year from Cleveland. I got to meet and interview a lot of guys like Brian Sipe, Clay Matthews, and my all-time favorite Brown, Bernie Kosar. I got to meet the owner, Art Modell, and his son David. Art Modell is a genuinely nice guy who still to this day loves Cleveland. Because Art moved the Browns to Baltimore, where they became the Ravens, not many people in Cleveland love him back. They’d like to see Art go down to Lake Erie and pull a wave over his head. But he was backed into a corner.

The situation was that the stadium was antiquated and he couldn’t build the skyboxes modern stadiums have to have. He had to do one of two things: leave the city or sell the team.
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On the field with former Browns quarterback Bernie Kosar.
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Frank Derry

I’ve hung out with the Indians a bunch of times too. My buddy, Frank Derry, who owns the Indians’ official news publication, Indians Ink, gets me the red-carpet treatment in the press box at Indians games. I’ve sat next to Indian legend and Hall of Famer, Bob Feller. I’ve thrown out the first pitch at a game at Jacobs Field and that was a tremendous thrill. Got the ball over the plate too. I’ve been to Winter-haven—the Indians’ spring training camp—and gone out on the field when the games ended and hung out. I’ve gone into the clubhouse before a game and Ellis Burks is there eating sushi with Matt Lawton, and Ellis looks up and gives me a big, “King!” I get the same feeling I had when I saw Sam Rutigliano waiting up for me, which is like the feeling I got as a kid watching the Tribe play. It’s a schoolkid’s dreams coming true. And thanks to the celebrity I enjoy from being a wrestler, I get to live out my dreams pretty often.
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Dad and me

chapter 4



Once I returned to Memphis, I had to follow my beloved teams from afar. I quickly became more and more interested in the biggest spectator sports deal in town, and that was professional wrestling. At that time, wrestling in North America was divided into a dozen or more territories, most of which supported their live events with local television shows. The first wrestlers I remember seeing were the guys who did the Cleveland television. In the late fifties that meant wrestlers like the Tolos Brothers (John and Chris), Bobo Brazil, and the Sheik. The Sheik was by far the biggest star and the biggest villain; he headlined all the cards I saw on Cleveland television. His real name was Eddie Farhat; in 1964, he began running the territory out of Detroit. Imagine the owner of the territory being the biggest star….

When I was a kid living in Memphis in the early fifties, the city was a hotbed of wrestling. They would have matches in a baseball stadium called Russwood Park, but I don’t remember any of them myself. One of the top guys around the time we came back was Sputnik Monroe. He had some classic battles with a wrestler named Billy Wicks. They had a match at Russwood Park for a Cadillac one time and another refereed by former Heavyweight Boxing Champion Rocky Marciano that attracted more than 15,000 fans.

Sputnik was a colorful character, not all that tall, not all that muscular, but he had a great look and a lot of charisma. He had thick eyebrows and wore a constant scowl on his face as if he were always smelling something rotten. But the most unusual thing about Sputnik, other than his name, was his hair. He had jet-black hair, and then right in the middle of the front of it, he had bleached a big streak of it white. He sort of looked like a skunk, but that hair was Sputnik’s gimmick. He wasn’t all that great a wrestler, mostly a brawler, but he did really good interviews. He called himself the Diamond Ring and the Cadillac Man.

Sputnik would hang out in the black neighborhoods of Memphis and was probably the first white wrestler to be a huge fan favorite in the black community. He once had a big bout coming up in town, so to promote the event, he bought a big goose and dyed all its feathers pink. He put a rhinestone collar ’round the goose’s neck and got himself dressed up in a nice suit with a big hat. He put the goose on a leash and the pair of them walked up and down Beale Street, causing such a commotion, the chief of police personally came out and asked Sputnik to stop.

When we came back, I realized that not only did Memphis have its own wrestling show on TV every week, but there were also live events every Monday night at the Ellis Auditorium downtown. My father was already a big wrestling fan and he and I went to the matches down there together once we moved back. That was almost the biggest thing he looked forward to every week. My father had a real bad heart condition—he had seven heart attacks in his life and he couldn’t do much physical activity. He was put on disability at the Ford plant in Ohio, which was why we moved back to Tennessee. The biggest weekly check my dad ever got in his life, including overtime, for ten or twelve hours a day in a hot factory, was $99. I used to get fifty cents a week allowance, and thought that was a big deal. When we moved back to Memphis, we had no income other than his disability. My mother had to go to work on the assembly line at the Kimberly-Clark factory.

My dad got a job as an usher for the wrestling events at the Auditorium. His “pay” was two box seat tickets, so we got in free to the matches. We basically had to be there every week. I remember seeing so many people for whom wrestling was a major part of their lives every week, much more than just a habit or a hobby. Some of the old people that sat in the same box as my dad and me seemed to live just for the wrestling show. That’s when I saw firsthand how passionate some wrestling fans could be. We saw the same fans there every week.

From the beginning, I was a fan of the heels, or the bad guys. I was always drawn to them more than to the babyfaces, as we call the good guys in wrestling. I thought they just had more about them: more style, more charisma, more attitude. They were the guys who took more risks and got more reaction out of the fans. My favorites were the Blue Infernos, who were the top heel team. They were a masked team so they were real mysterious to me. I found out later they were Frank Martinez and Gilberto “Pepe” Merendea. I don’t know how many times I waited out back of the auditorium hoping I’d see the Blue Infernos without their masks. How I thought I was going to recognize them, I don’t know.

My father was pretty sick, and I’d have to drive us down to the matches once I got my license. My dad passed away in 1969. He was buried on my nineteenth birthday. It was before I started wrestling, before I even had any idea about doing anything in wrestling. I just know that he would have been so thrilled and proud to know that I had become a wrestler and made such a success of it. That would have been great for him; he’d have loved it.

As it was, my dad and I shared years of watching wrestling together on TV and at the Auditorium. The wrestling was on Channel Thirteen in Memphis. The commentators were Lance Russell and Dave Brown, guys who’d figure prominently in my career when it got started. And so would the wrestlers who appeared on their shows and at the Ellis Auditorium, guys like the “German” tag team the Von Brauners; the evil “Japanese” wrestler, Tojo Yamamoto, and, of course, Jackie Fargo. That was the “Fabulous” Jackie Fargo, who had emerged as the top talent in the region. I loved to watch Jackie wrestle. If there was a more crazy idea you could have told the teenaged Jerry Lawler that he’d be working with Jackie Fargo and these guys one day, I don’t know what it could have been.

As for that teenager, he spent a lot more time goofing off than doing schoolwork or figuring out what it might be that he wanted to do with his life. The thing about my high-school years was that they were split right down the middle. I went to ninth and tenth grade in Ohio and was just forming friendships there when we moved back to Memphis for the eleventh and twelfth grades at Treadwell High School. Having been gone for seven years, I barely knew anyone other than neighbors or people who had lived close by.

My brother Larry stayed up in Ohio. He had a job and got engaged to a girl. He got married and it was some time before they came back to Memphis. Larry was always more straitlaced and conventional than me. He was always the standard being held up for me to aspire to and I was always wanting to get a different standard. When we came back, it was just my mom, my dad, and me.

 

My mother remembers there were twenty-one boys living on our street, all about the same age. I guess the girls just ran for cover. We were all friends, but that didn’t mean we didn’t have fights. There were fights all the time. As a matter of fact, any guy on our street with all his teeth was considered a sissy. There were enough of us that we could have whole ball teams. We organized boxing tournaments, football games, corkball games. We all played together and that kept us out of trouble because you never had to leave the street. Actually we were all pretty good kids. Not one kid on my block went to the electric chair.
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My brother and I had homemade costumes. I’m the pig-ghost.

Our next-door neighbors were the Mashburns, four brothers: David, Dicky, Danny, and…Mike. Mike was the youngest and they must have run out of Ds. Next to the Mashburns, there was Terry and Barry Fink. Across the street from me was Cecil Speer and Bobby Brown. Next door on the other side of our house was Chucky and Jimmy Teeters. Their dad, Ted, was a tough kind of guy who used to do stuff to impress kids in the neighborhood. He’d put a firecracker in his teeth and light it. A dumb thing to do perhaps, but it made quite an impression on any kid who happened to be watching.

One of my great friends at the time was Robert Reed, and he’s still a friend of mine. If you ask me, I’d say that I was a friendly, fun-loving kid who liked a good practical joke. But Reed remembers it a bit differently. He characterizes me as the “big bully” of the block. He says I terrorized the other kids, twisted their arms, and made them cry. Because I was a big kid, Reed remembers I’d say, “Let’s do some boxing,” and set up ropes ’round some trees just so I could whack the other guys and torture them. Reed was a pretty good boxer. He was able to take a good punch. Only problem was, he’d take it thirty or forty times a round.

One time Reed’s mother called him because she wanted him to go to the store. We were playing touch football right in the middle of the street and his mother calls and our game’s screwed up. Reed goes home to get his Stingray bike with its banana seat and its high handlebars. He then starts off for the corner store on Macon Road. But first, he has to cycle past his friends. Of course, he knows something’s going to happen to him.

He looks along the street and doesn’t see anybody so he takes off, a hundred miles an hour down the slope. I’m out of his sight, up on my porch, about twenty yards from the sidewalk. I see Reed coming, buzzing down. I was holding a football and as I see him draw even with me, I throw the football at him. I’d never have been able to do it again in a million years but the football wedged perfectly between the front wheel and the frame of the bike. Reed flips up and over the handlebars, and flies like Evel Kneivel before crashing into the street. I thought he was dead! Apparently I’d also make him and Chris Killebrew lie down in front of a jump ramp we made for our bikes. And I’d ride right over them, and skin ’em up with the back wheel. It’s a miracle those guys on the street survived my reign of terror, but somehow they did.

Another thing Reed claims I did was put a fish scale in his eye. What kind of weirdo would think of a thing like that? I told him to come over and try out this contact lens I had that would make him see better. I grabbed him in a headlock and stuck it in his eye and asked him what he could see. Not much, probably. Reed was a little younger than me, you understand, and I could get him in trouble pretty easily.

Once at school, a girl I liked named Judy Hart showed me this letter somebody put in her locker. Someone called her a “hor.” I thought I had a good idea who’d done it. A couple of days later, I was talking with some friends. Reed was there and I asked him, “By the way, how do you spell ‘whore’?” and he said “h-o-r.” “Bam!” I dotted his eye. I thought I was being a gentleman defending Judy Hart’s honor, but it turned out it wasn’t even Reed who wrote the note.

I busted myself up pretty well a lot of the time. The most painful to recall was one particular time at Halloween. I think it was the people next door, the Teeters, instead of candy, gave away those peashooters that used to come with little packets of dried peas. We were going trick-or-treating and I had that peashooter in my mouth and was going to run and jump the ditch that I mentioned before. That was a big deal because it was quite a leap. I ran and jumped and somehow I missed and didn’t make it across. The peashooter hit the ground first and ripped all the skin off the roof of my mouth down to my throat. I thought I was dead; it was the worst thing ever, ruined my whole Halloween. I couldn’t enjoy eating any of the candy I got because I’d screwed up the inside of my mouth so bad.

When I’d get in trouble, my mom and dad weren’t afraid to take it out of my hide. My parents did not spare the rod, I can attest to that. When I got out of line, my mother would haul off and hit me with the nearest thing she could get her hands on. She’d kick me and spank my bottom until it was bright red. I wouldn’t be allowed food or drink for the whole day. Then at night my father would come home and really punish me! Well, that may be a little bit of an exaggeration, but that’s the way it seemed to me.

My mother chased me ’round the dining-room table with a belt or switch in her hand on more than one occasion. She used to say, “This hurts me worse than it does you.” I’d always come back with “Well, be sure and take it easy on yourself!” I sprayed a big hose on my brother Larry one time and knocked him clean over a fence. I think the reason he was climbing the fence in the first place was to get away from me. He sprained his arm pretty bad and had to wear a sling for weeks.

I was always doing something to drive my parents nuts. I guess that’s why they tried to give me a hint by putting a sign on my bedroom door: CHECKOUT TIME IS 18.








chapter 5



Before I lost my wrestling cherry in West Memphis, Arkansas, a lot of things had to come together. Looking back, there were any number of coincidences and pieces of good fortune that took place and paved the way for me. It wasn’t like Jackie Fargo walked past the house on Vernon Avenue, saw me slamming Mike Mashburn in the yard, and said, “Hey, kid! Wanna be a wrestler?” Strangely enough, what got me in close personal contact with the wrestlers for the first time was another great talent I happen to have and one that goes with wrestling like fly-fishing does with monster truck racing, and that’s art.

At high school, I’ll be the first to admit I wasn’t a very good student. I just hated to study. I remember one of the teachers said of me to my mother one time, “Jerry does just enough to get by.” I guess it was the perfect description of me and it was really the attitude I had at school: as long as I got by. School wasn’t something I was enjoying so I wasn’t going to go out of my way to excel at it. I don’t know why I thought like that, but that was the way it was.

I did enjoy one part of school though, and that was art class. At the time, it seemed like that was a blessing and a curse all at once. The blessing was that I did great when I was drawing in art class—straight As and eventually I won a commercial art scholarship. Drawing in art class is okay, but unfortunately I’d draw in other classes as well. The curse was that I was drawing most of the time I should have been studying and that would get me in trouble. Either in class or when I should have been doing homework, I’d be drawing Super-heroes…Superman and Batman, and things like that.

When I was in the eleventh grade, I had an American history class whose teacher was also the head basketball coach. This was Coach “Bear” McLain, so named because he was a big, well, bearish individual. Nice enough guy, but pretty gruff, as most sports coaches are. Treadwell High School had a very good basketball team. They always seemed to make it to the state tournament in Nashville and in my junior year they played in the state championship game, a huge deal for a school from Memphis. For a student such as myself, Coach was a great American history teacher to have because he didn’t really care about anything other than basketball. You’d go into his class and he’d say, “Okay, read pages thirty-one through sixty-one. I’m going to the teachers’ lounge.” And off he’d go, out the door. We’d just be there by ourselves and you might read, you might not.
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Me and Mom

One of the star basketball players sat right in front of me. His name was Curry Todd. Needless to say, Curry could get away with anything in Coach McLain’s class. The Coach grew up on a farm or something and as a young kid he had been kicked in the head by a mule. At least that was the story. He did have this big scar right above his left eye. Curry loved to make fun of the coach’s scar. I don’t know how many times he did this, but Coach McLain would leave the room and Curry would turn to me and say, “Hey, Lawler, draw a picture of Coach getting kicked by the mule.” I’d draw a cartoon picture of Coach getting kicked in the head, blood flying out and everything. Curry’d keep looking over as I was doing it and laughing.

One day, I was just finishing up the picture. It was a particularly good rendition with Coach flying through the air, his head all busted open and cut up. Then I glance up and I see this pair of pants right in front of my desk. I look up all the way and, Oh God, there’s Coach McLain standing over me looking down at my drawing! It was the scariest thing ever. He grabbed me by the shirt and yanked me up out of the desk, ripping my shirt as he did it. I knew I was dead. He dragged me out into the hallway, pushed me up against a locker, and he said, “Boy, I’ll break you down like a shotgun.” I was trembling. I was scared to death that he’d paddle me, which they still did back then, and a lot. Coach was the worst, he’d knock you from one end of the hall to the other.

Fortunately, Coach McLain had mercy on me and took me down to the principal’s office. Mr. Maybry, our principal, was an older man, I mean like “real” old. Sometimes you’d see him walking down the hall and you’d wonder if his undertaker knew he got up! Amazingly, this was the first time I’d ever been taken to his office. He says, “Lawler. What’s your telephone number?” I said, “My telephone number?” And he said, “Yeah, I need to call your mom.” I thought, my God, that’s the worst thing you could do! Just beat me. Paddle me. Let Coach McLain paddle me. Hang me from the goalposts by my testicles. Just don’t call my mom.

No such luck. Principal Maybry called and got my mom on the phone. He said, “I’ve got your son Jerry here in my office. He’s down here all the time. We have a lot of problems out of him, Mrs. Lawler…” What? No, no, no! Holy mackerel, he was setting me up, the old codger. When I got home there was this long switch lying across the table and I got the worst beating I ever did receive. That’s how my drawing would get me into trouble. But I was the King of the art class.

 

I got a job after school sacking groceries and drawing signs at the local Hogue and Knott grocery store. If they had a promotion, like Green Giant green beans at twenty-nine cents a can, I’d make the little sign with the price on it and draw a picture of the green giant. They had the best signs of any store. I’d take my time drawing the signs so I didn’t have to spend much time sacking. But I eventually got sacked myself for putting aerosol cans in the incinerator. At night after the store was closed one of our duties was to burn cardboard boxes, in the incinerator. When no one was looking, I’d slip a can of hair spray or maybe a can of spray paint off the shelves, put it in the incinerator, and then run and hide or act like I was cleaning. It took a few minutes, but those cans would heat up, then they would explode with a satisfying whump! I’d be whistling away down one of the aisles, and all of a sudden, Boom, boom! Sometimes, I’d make it outside in time to watch a big fireball fly up out of the chimney. That used to be the highlight of my workday, but someone squealed on me and that was that.

The cool thing about that grocery store was that every week they’d put a poster in the window to show who was wrestling on Monday night at the Auditorium. The poster would come out on Wednesday and I’d ride my bike down there to see what the matches were going to be. One day I sat down at home and started doing some caricatures and drawings of the wrestlers I was seeing at the Ellis Auditorium. Sometimes I’d draw a storyboard of the week’s top match showing the major moves and the finish.

I was happy with the results and I took the drawings to the Auditorium on Monday nights and showed them around. I think it was someone who we sat near at the Auditorium who suggested I send a couple of them to Lance Russell, the announcer at Channel Thirteen for the wrestling show. Figuring I had nothing to lose, I got a few pictures together and sent them in. I don’t know what I expected, maybe that he’d give them to the wrestlers and they’d like them and want me to draw more for them. I know I certainly didn’t expect what happened.

As I always did, I turned on the TV Saturday morning for the wrestling show. Lance Russell and his colleague Dave Brown were sitting at the desk and they started talking about what was going to be on the show that day. I was looking at the screen and suddenly I noticed, right on the corner of the announcer’s desk, were my drawings! Oh my gosh, what were they going to do? Where they going to show my drawings on TV? That would be too good to be true. Then they had the first match. Then the second, but no mention of my artwork. The drawings were just lying there on the corner of the desk. Then the third match. Every show, they would always do a recap of what had happened in the matches down at the Auditorium the previous Monday night, then they would announce who was wrestling who this upcoming Monday. I was waiting, sweating like crazy, “What are they going to do with my pictures?”

I was sure the show was going to end without a mention of my art, when, all of a sudden, Lance Russell said, “We’re going to look at the action from the Auditorium last Monday night. And as a matter of fact we’ve got some really nice cartoons done by a fan out there name of, let me see…Jerry Lawler.” He said the first match was Tojo Yamamoto against Jackie Fargo and up on the screen went my picture of Tojo chopping Jackie Fargo. My artwork…full screen! I thought I’d die, it was just great. When the program finished, I went out and told all my neighbors about it. My drawings were on the wrestling show, did you see? Then there was a phone call for me. As soon as I answered, the voice on the other end was unmistakable. I’d just listened to it for the past ninety minutes. It was Lance Russell! Are you kidding me?

Lance Russell asked if I’d seen the show. I said I had, yes sir. He said everyone seemed to like the drawings. Something about my capturing the essential moment really well. Then he said that, in that segment where they recapped the matches from the previous Monday, they’d show my drawings if I sent them to them every week. I almost fainted!
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